GOODE et al v. LEXISNEXIS RISK & INFORMATION ANALYTICS GROUP, INC. Doc. 37

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

KEESHA GOODE and VICTORIA : CIVIL ACTION
GOODMAN, on Behalf of Themselves and :
Others Similarly Situated, :

Plaintiff s, : NO. 2:11cv-2950-JD

V.

LEXISNEXIS RISK & INFORMATION
ANALYTICS GROUP, INC. ,

Defendant.

DuBOIS, J. June %5, 2012

MEMORANDUM

I. INTRODUCTION

In this putativeclass actionplaintiffs allege thatlefendant’s system for conducting
employmentrelatedbackground checkgolates thd~air Credit Reporting Act'ECRA"), 15
U.S.C. 8§ 161&t seq. Plaintiffs are employees who were fired by their emplogedspotential
employees who were denied employméatsed ormbackground checkihiat defendant conducted
for those employers

On March 22, 2012, the Court granted in part and denied in part defenfitahf/otion
to Dismiss.Thereafterthe Court granted plaintifieave to amend their Class Action Complaint
(“First Complaint). Plaintiffs filed an Amended Class Action Complali#roended
Complaint”) on April 23, 2012, and defendant filed a second Motion to Dismiss under Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) and 12(f) seeking dismissal of the new coumésAmended

Complaint and asking the Court to strike the class action allegations in Coun¢ lAvhdénded
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Complaint. For the reasons stated below, the Court denies defendant’s second Motion to
Dismiss.
Il. BAC KGROUND*

A. The “Esteeni System

Defendant operates a proprietary system cdllessieem that“helps organizations
identify applicants with [a] history of theft or fraud.” (Am. Compl. § 11.) Subscribiegiber
employers‘(member¥) pay a fee based on the number of their employees, and in return,
defendant performs background checks on current and potential employeesn (Astaber:
Service Agreement, Am. Compl. Ex. A.) Members must also give defendant new refcibrels
incidents involving their own employees and customers. (Am. Compl. 1 16.) Members may onl
submit incident reports in two situations: (1) if the member referred the incidemtrfonal
prosecution, or (2) if the employee admits guld. { 17.) If, as is alleged in this case, the
employee admits guilt, the member employer includesadmission stateméht-a statement
describing the incident and admitting guilt signed by the person who committedfthewita
the report. id. 1 19.)

When a member requests information about a current or potential employee, defendant
searches its system for possible matches between the emplogesonal information and a
record on file. [d. § 24.) If a match is found, defendawmgefifies’ the match by comparing the
personal data from the inquiry with the incident data and the admission staseipenitting the
incident. (d.) Once a match is verified, defendant classifies the employee in accordance with
adjudication scores agreed upon by defendant and the merabgd{tatiori). (Id. 1 41.) If the

empoyee falls below a certain threshold, defendant assigns the employee a “natitoatipe

! As required on a motion to dismiss, the Court takes all plausible factual allegations
contained in @intiffs’ Complaint to be true.



score. [d.) Defendant then generateSraport detailing the match and the adjudication and
sends the report to the inquiring membét. {27.) The admission statement is not provided as
part of the report.Id. 128.)

The FCRA requiresnter alig that before taking anyatlverse actidhagainst an
employee, the person taking such action must send the employee a copy of thexdeport a
notice of the consumes’ights under the FCRA. 15 U.S.C1881b(b)(3). Agart of theservice
provided to members, defendant sends these dpreerse action lettér®n membersletterhead
to employees or potential employees whose information results in a match afteplétesthe
adjudication and sends the report to the memher{ 43, 44, 49 Defendant includes a copy
of the report with the prexdverse action lettelout not a copy ofthe admission statemenid (

1 46.) The preadverse action letter also contains aldister that defendaritlid not participate
in any employment decision and will be unable to provide any specific reasonstag [the
employer] may choose to take an adverse employment &qtitme-Adverse Action Letter, Am.
Compl.Ex. B.) Several days after it sends the—jpdberse action letter, defendant sends the
employee a findladverse action lettéon the membes letterhead. Am. Compl.J 44.)

In the Amended Complaint, plaintiffs allege that defendant failetbtmiv reasonable
procedures tassure maximum possible accuraoythe files in the Esteem syste(id. 1 136.)
Plaintiffs point out that[d]efendant has few policies and procedures governing employer
practices regarding the form, content, and quality of contributed admissiemetas.” (d.

1 137.) Rather, member employers are free to submit admission statementfimany
defendant does not require that there beeaipress admissidnn the admission statemenid.(

1 139))



Plaintiffs also allege that defendant does not canauieasonable reinvestigationf
information in an employesgile if the employee contacts defendant to contest the accuracy of
that information. Id. § 153.) Rather, defendant “disregards the gravity of the reinvestigation
obligation.” (d.)

B. Facts Pertaining to Plaintiff Keesha Goode

Plaintiff Keesha Goode worked as a customer service representative and oashier i
Forman Mills store from November 2006 to October 20@B.f(51) Forman Mills is a
subscribing member of Esteem. (Id. T)F2ormanMills fired Ms. Goode in October 2008 based
upon an accusatidhat she committed a theftd.  56) Forman Mills submittedn incident
reportto defendant following Ms. Goode’s terminatioll. ( 57.) The incident report contained
an admission statemetiat Ms. Goode signedd() Forman Mills did not inform Ms. Goode
that it was submitting the admission statement to defenddnf. $8.)

In May 2009, Ms. Goode applied for a job at a store owned by the Family Dollar Stores
chain. (d.  6Q) Family Dollar Stores decided to hire Ms. Goode, provided that she passed an
employment background screening conducted by defendidr. §1.) Soon after applying, she
received a preadverse action letter from defendant telling her that it had matched her
information to the incident report Forman Mills submitted in October 2088Eks. B, C.)The
letter did not contain a copy of the admission statemiehtf 68.) The pre-adverse action letter
was on Family Dollar Storégetterhead, but was actually sentybdefendant pursuant to the
Esteem member services agreement between defendant and Family Dollar [8tdfé&&)(The
letteradvisedMis. Goode to contact defendant LexisNexis if she wished to cottteshCcuracy

or completeness of any of the information provided by [defendaid].Ek. B.)



Some time thereafter, Ms. Goode sent defendant a letter requesting héffiezitiamd
disputing the alleged theft from Forman Mil{d. 1 69, Ex. D.) Defendant responded with a
letter dated August 6, 2009, stating that defendant had reinvestigated the incideat &hd t
original information provided on the background report was reported accuralel\f"70, Ex.

E.) Attached to the letter was a copy of the same report that defendant hagidstappls.
Goode in the preadlverse action letterid)) Ms. Goode then sent a second letter requesting
copies of “whatever information you are relying ond. (f 71, Ex. F.) She did not receive a
response from defendankd (Y 67.)It was only after the instant & was filed that defendant
provided Ms. Goode with a copy of her admission statematating tothe Forman Mills
incident. (d. 1 73, Ex. G.)

Family Dollar Storeslid not hire Ms. Goode, arshhe wasdenied other job opportunities
with any of the hundds of [member] employers(id. 1 74.) Ms. Goode alleges that she
suffered lost income, “humiliation, anxiety, anguish and other forms of emotiamalameal
distress over being branded a thiefd. ( 75.)

C. Facts Pertaining to Plaintiff Victoria Goodman

From June 2005 to the summer of 2006, Ms. Goodman worked as a cashier and stock
person at a Dollar General storil. (f 76) In the summer of 2006, her supervisor informed her
that Dollar General was investigating her in relation to a theft and thahseh&l go home.d.

1 78) Although Ms. Goodman does not recall signing anything during the investigation of the
incident, Dollar General submitted to defendant an admission statement witlodsnén’s
signature. ld. 1178, 80.)Dollar General never infmed her of the outcome of its investigation,
and Ms. Goodman applied and was approved for unemployment compensation b&hefits. (

11 82, 83.)



On October 2, 2006, Ms. Goodman began work as a cashier at a Rite Aiddi§ré5()
In November 2009, she applied for a promotidd. § 86.) After deciding to promote Ms.
GoodmanRite Aid submitted an inquiry to the Esteem systédi.f( 8.) Defendant verified a
match in its system for Ms. Goodman related to the Dollar General incaoheiRRjte Aid fired
her on November 30, 2009d( 11 89, 90.) On December 2, 2009, defendant sent her a pre—
adverse action letter on Rite Asdletterhead with the report attachdd. { 91, Exs. G, H.)
Defendant sent Ms. Goodman a final adverse action letter on Ritelaiterhead on December
7, 2009. [d. 71 98,Ex.J.)

Ms. Goodman wrote to defendantDecember 2009 disputing the repold. § 100)
Defendant responded on December 22, 2009, stating that icbagbleted [its] reinvestigation
of the disputed information and . . . verified that the original information provided on the
background report was reported accuratelg”{ 101, Ex. L.) Ms. Goodman contacted
Community Legal Services, which sent defendant a request for Ms. Goodman’s@amiss
statement.lfl. Ex. M.) Defendant did not respondd( ¥ 103.) Ms. Goodman later filed a union
grievance and was reinstated as a cashier at Riteldid. (

Defendant attached Ms. Goodmsiadmission statement to fist Motion to Osmiss.
The admission statement &aps to contain two different sets of handwritiid. { 104, Ex. N.
The first describes the alleged incideid. Ex. N) The second state$,really thought | bought
the fan’] and denies that she intended to stealdt) (

Ms. Goodman claims thahe suffered damagesthe form of lost income during the six
months she was unemployed after Rite Aid fired her and iditfezencebetween the income
she would have received as a supervisor and what she received as a cashiernaétgr sh

reinstated(ld. 1 105.) Ms. Goodman also claims that she suffered “humiliation, anxiety, anguish



and other forms of emotional harm and distress over being treated as a thieékigtneg
employer’ (Id. 1 106.)

D. Procedural History

In theFirst Complaint, plaitiffs alleged that defendant violated two separate provisions
of the FCRA. In Count I, plaintiffs alleged that defendant violated 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(3)
because defendant had already taken an adverse action against plaimifésljudication—
whenit sentthem the pre—adverse action letter. In Count Il, plaintiffs alleged thendbait
violated 15 U.S.C. § 1681g(a) when it refused to give plaintiffs copies of their admission
statements upon request. Plaintiffs alleged willful violations of both sectiwles 45 U.S.C.
8 1681n and sought statutory damages, punitive damages, and reasonablesatemsayid
costs.

By MemorandunandOrderof March 22, 2012, the Court granted in part and denied in

part defendans first Motion to DismissGoode v. LexisNexis Risk & Info. Analytics Grp., Inc.,

No. 2:11€CV-2950, 2012 WL 975043 (E.D. Pa. Mar. 22, 2012). The Court held thBirgte
Complaint pled facts sufficient to state a claim for violations of b§th681b(b)(3) and
1681g(a). However, the Court concludkdt the First Complairfailed to state a claim for a
willful violation of 8§ 1681b(b)(3) under the standard that the Supreme Court announced in

Safeco Insurance Co. of America v. Burr, 551 U.S. 47, 69-70 (2007).

Plaintiffs filed the Amended Complainhdpril 23, 2012. The Amended Complaint
alters the allegations in Count | by asserting a negligent violati8ri681b(b)(3), for which

plaintiffs argue they are entitled to actual damages uhdéB1lo, rather than statutory damages



for a willful violation under § 1681AThe Amended Complaint also includes new claims:

First, in Count Ill, thenamedplaintiffs allege that defendant violated 15 U.S.C. § 1681e(b) by

failing to “follow reasonable procedures designed to assure maximum possible dcofithel

Esteem files. (Am. Compf| 136.) Second, in Count IV, tmamedplaintiffs allege that

defendant violated 15 U.S.C. § 1681i by failing to conduceasonable reinvestigatioof the

alleged theft incidents whehe namedgblaintiffs disputed thasincidents. Plaintiffs seek actual
damages, punitive damages, and reasonable attorney’s fees and costs under 15 U.S.C. 88 1681n

and 16810 for Counts Il and I¥/.

215 U.S.C. § 1681n states,

Any person whowillfully fails to comply with any requirement
imposed under this subchapter with respect to any consumer is
liable to that consumer in an amount equal to the sum of—

(1) . . . any actual damages sustained by the consumer as a
result of the failure or damages of not less than $100 and not more
than $1,000; . . .

(2) such amount of punitive damages as the court may
allow; and

(3) in the case of any successful action to enforce any
liability under this section, the costs of the action together with
reasonable attorney’s feesdetermined by the court.

(emphasis added).
15 U.S.C. § 16810 states,

Any person who isnegligentin failing to comply with any
requirement imposed under this subchapter with respect to any
consumer is liable to that consumer in an amount equal to the sum
of—

(1) any actual damages sustained by the consumer as a
result of the failure; and

(2) in the case of any successful action to enforce any
liability under this section, the costs of the action together with
reasonable attorney’s fees as determined &ygdhurt.

(emphasis added).

% Count Il remains unchanged in the Amended Complaint and is not at issue in
defendant’s second Motion to Dismiss.



lll. LEGAL STANDARD
A. Motion to Dismiss Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6)
To suvive a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), a civil plaintiff must allege facts that

“raise a right to relief above the speculative leVellictaulic Co. v. Tieman499 F.3d 227, 234

(3d Cir. 2007) (quoting Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007)). A complaint

must contain Sufficient factual matter, accepted as truéstate a claim to relief that is

plausible on its fac&. Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quoting Twombly, 550 U.S.

at 570). To satisfy the plausibility staard, a plaintiffs allegations must show that defendant’
liability is more tharfa sheer possibility.1d. “Where a complaint pleads facts that ‘anerely
consistent witha defendans liability, it ‘stops short of the line between possibility and
plausbility of entitlement to relief’ Id. (quoting_ Twombly, 550 U.S. at 557).

In Twombly, the Supreme Court usedtad-pronged approachwhich it later

formalized inlgbal. Igbal, 556 U.S. at 679—-8Bowler v. UPMC Shadyside, 578 F.3d 203, 210—

11 (3d Cir. 2009). Under this approach, a district court first identifies those falidgaltions
that constitute nothing more than “legal conclusiams’haked assertions.” Twombly, 550 U.S.
at 555, 557. Such allegations are “not entitled to the assumptiorttdfand must be
disregarded. Igbal, 556 U.S. at 679. The cowrstthen asses¥he‘nub’ of the plaintiff s]
complaint—he wellpleaded, nonconclusory factual allegation[s] . . . to determvhether it
states a plausible claim for relidd. at 680.

B. Motion to Strike Under Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 12(f)and 23(d)(1)(D)

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(f) provides, “The court may strike froraaaliplg an
insufficient defense or any redundant, immaterial, impertinent, or scancdaddtes.”The

purpose of a motion to strike is to clean up the pleadings, streamline litigation, and avoid



unnecessary forays into immaterial mattérblatale v. Winthrop Res. Corp., No. 07-4686, 2008

WL 2758238, at *14E.D. Pa. July 9, 2008) (quotingclnernyv. Moyer Lumber & Hardware,

Inc., 244 F. Supp. 2d 393 (E.D. pa. 2002)). Relief undee RA(f) is generally disfavoreahd
will be denied unless the allegatichiiave no possible relation to the controversy and may
cause prejudice to one of the part@sif the allegations confuse the issues in the Cakk.

(quoting River Road Devel. Corp. v. Carlson Corp., No. 89-7037, 1990 WL 69085, at *2 (E.D.

Pa. May 23, 1990)).

Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(d)(1)@®%¥ourt adjudicating a class iact
may“require that the pleadings be amended to eliminate allegations about repi@sehta
absent persons and thiae action proceed accordinglyHowever, courtgarely granimotions to

strike under Rule 23(d)(1)(Dprior to class discovergeeP.V. ex rel. Valentin v. Sch. Distf o

Phila, No. 2:11€V-04027, 2011 WL 5127850, at *3 (E.D. Pa. Oct. 31, 2011), doing so only
where“[n] o amount of additional class discovery will altgeijrconclusionthat the class is not

maintainableThompson v. Meilc & Co., Inc, Nos. 01-1004, 01-1328, 01-3011, 01-6029, 02-

1196, 2004 WL 62710, at *2 (E.D. Pa. Jan. 6, 2004).
V. DISCUSSION

Defendant makes two arguments in its second Motion to Dismiss. First, defarglseg
that the Court should strike the class allegations in Count | of the Amended Comgeamtd S
defendant argues that Count I, Count Ill, and Count IV are time barred. Emetdndum will

address each argument in turn.

10



A. Class Allegations in Count f

Defendant argues thatis appropriate totake the class allegations in Count | because
“it is apparent from the allegations in the [Amended Clomplaint that a class actiom lsann
maintained. (Mem. Law Supp. Def. LexisNexis Screening Solutions Bidot. Strike Class
Allegations Dismiss Coustl, Ill and IV Am. Compl. (Def.’s Br") 2.) For the reasons that
follow, the Court concludethatdefendaris request to strike the class allegations is premature.

In the Amended Complaint, plaintiffs proposeRag-Adverse Action Sulélass
consisting of peoplett whom LexisNexis mailed a PAdverse Action Notice on the letterhead
of a thirdparty employer customer.” (Am. Compl197.) Because Count | seeks actual damages
under 15 U.S.C. § 16810, plaintiffs propose the Pre—Adverse ActioCagb-as liability-only
classunder Rule 23(c)(4), whereby damages for individual class members would e uiete
only after plaintiffs establish defendastiability under§ 1681b(b)(3pn a classvide basis
(Am. Compl. § 125; Resp. OppDef. LexisNexis Ris & Info. Analytics Groy, Inc.s Mot
Dismiss PIs.Am. Compl.(“PIs! Resp?) 9 n.4.)

“In rare cases where it is clear from the complaint itself that the requireroents f
maintaining a class action cannot be met, a defendant may move to strike thdegdasons

before a motion for class certification is file8lBL Flooring, Inc. v. Trumball Ins. CoNo. 10-

4398, 2011 WL 4481918, at *1 (E.D. Pa. Sept. 27, 2(a&yveverdistrict courts within the

Third Circuit typically conclude that motions toiké class action allegations filed before

4 As described abovsupraSection I1.D, and more fully in the Court’s March 22, 2012,
Memorandum, Goode, 2012 WL 975043, at ¥@;-plaintiffs claim in Count | that the Esteem
system violates 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(3) because defendant takes an “adverse &etoih” w
“adjudicates” the employees as “noncompetitive.” Defendant sends tredpegse action letter
to the employees after it adjudicates them, and thus, defendant runs afoul of § 1681b(b)(3)’s
requirement that it notify the employees before taking an adverse action.

11



plaintiffs move for class certification are premati@8eeValentin 2011WL 5127850, at *3—4.
As another court in this District observed,

[a] motion to strike class allegations under Rule 23(d)(4) seems,
for all practical purposes, identical to an opposition to a motion for
class certification. Several district courts have held that Rule
23(d)(4) motions to strike class allegations are premature and that
the proper avenue is to oppose the plaigtifhotion for clas
certification

Korman v. Walking Co., 503 F. Supp. 2d 755, 762 (E.D. Pa. Z80@@&)ions omitted)see also

Martin v. Ford Motor Co., 765 F. Supp. 2d 673, 680-81 (E.D. Pa. 2RB1) Flooring, 2011

WL 4481918, at *1Mills v. Serv. First Credit UnionNo. 4:11€V-686, 2011 WL 3236313

(M.D. Pa. July 28, 2011¥Vlachos v. Tobyhanna Army Depot Fed. Credit Unidn, 3:11-CV-

0060, 2011 WL 2580657 (M.D. Pa. June 29, 2011). This is becdaas#etermine if the
requirements of Rule 23 have been satisfiedstaict court must conduct‘agorous analysis,’
[in which it] ‘may delve beyond the pleadings to determine whether the reguntefior class

certification are satisfied. Landsman & Funk PC v. Skind8&trauss Assocs640 F.3d 72, 93

(3d Cir. 2011)quoting In re Hydrogen Peroxide Antitrust Litig., 552 F.3d 305, 309,(3d&Cir.

2008)). Dscovery and full briefing on the merits of class certification are typicafjyiredto
conduct this “rigorous analysisSeeValentin 2011 WL 5127850, at *AIBL Flooring, 2011

WL 4481918, at *1see alsddAndrews v. Home Depot U.S.A., In&Np. 03CV5200, 2005 WL

1490474, at *3 (D.N.J. June 23, 2005) ] he shape and form of a class action evolves only

through the process of discovety(quoting_Abdallah v. The GaCola Cao, No. 1:98CV3679,

1999 WL 527835at*1 (N.D. Ga.1999))). Thus, it is “rare” for a court to strikkassallegations

prior to discoveryValentin 2011 WL 5127850, at *@ccordNBL Flooring 2011 WL

4481918, at *1.

12



In responsedefendant arges that this is one of thharecases in which no amount of

discovery will demonstrate that the class can be maintaBesl.hompson v. Merck & Co.,

Inc., Nos. 01-1004, 01-1328, 01-3011, 01-6029, 02-1196, 2004 WL 62710 (E.D. Pa. Jan. 6,
2004). In supportf this, defendant cites several cases that it claims foreclose certificaion of
liability-only classwhen plaintiffs seek actual damages in an FCRA d¢dseever all of the
cases defendant cites were decided at the-clEsification stage, not on a motion to strike.

Moreover, only one case that defendant cites is arguably ondoiktarper v. Trans Union,

LLC, the plaintiffs brought a putative class action under 15 U.S.C. § 1681e(b) alleging that the

defendant had generated credit reports thaturately stated that the plaintiffs had filed for

® The others are easily distinguishable. In Chakejian v. Equifax Informativit&er
LLC, the defendant argued that the named plaintiéfsction to forego actual damages or a
negligence claim under the FCRA m{eéhim an inadequate representative of the class because
his interests conflict with the interests of potential class members wybamea actual damages
in an amount exceeding the statutory cap of $1,000.00.” 256 F.R.D. 492, 499 (E.D. Pan2009)
concluding that the named plaintiff met the adequacy prong of Rule 23(a) desgtitegeio
forego actual damages, the court notéidHe plaintiff were required to pursue actual damages
in this case, individual damages issues would quickly overwhelm the common questions and the
suit would become unmanageable and uncertifiabde However, the plaintiffs it€hakejiandid
not propose dadbility-only class, and the Court’s hypothetical argument was dicta because the
plaintiffs did not, in fact, seek actual damages.

In another case defendant citesggee v. Nextel Communications, Inc., the court
refused to certify a class because calauigactual damages involved an individualized inquiry
for each plaintiff. No. 02-8676, 2004 WL 5235587 (C.D. Ca. June 25, 2004). However, the
plaintiffs in that case did not propose to limit the class action to the question of liabtlity
after defendats filed their brief. The court noted, “In their Reply and at oral argument,
[p]laintiffs offered that the Court could address this issue by certifyaigss for the purpose of
determining liability only. While this may be an attractive and more mab&geption, the
Court declines to fashion such a class without [d]efendants having been provided an opportunity
to brief the issue.ld. at *8 (citations omitted).

Finally, defendant cite@/illiams v. Telespectrum, IncNo. 05-853, 2007 WL 6787411
(E.D. Va. June 1, 2007). The plaintiffs\iilliams sought to certify a class for liability and
statutory and punitive damages. The court refused to certify the classécamsid be
impossible to determine on a clagsgle basis whether punitive damages wegsonable under
the Due Process Clause given the different amounts of actual damages tHésaffered.d.
at *6-7. Plaintiffs in this case do not seek punitive damages under Count |, and/illias)s is
inapposite.

13



bankruptcy protectioriNo. 04-3510, 2006 WL 3762035, at *1 (E.D. Pa. Dec. 20, 2000t
plaintiffs in Harperclaimedactual damages for a negligent violatiorgdf681¢b) and sought

class certification foliability only. Id. The Harpercourt ruled that, to establish a violation of

8 1681e(b), a plaintiff must prove: (1) that defendant failed to follow reasonable practxdure
assure maximum possible accuracy of consumer reports, (2) that the informagti@ntff's
consumer report was inaccurate, (3) that the plaintiff suffered damages, drat {(dpse

damages were caused by the inaccurate informdtioat *8. These elements are sepaiffaben
proof ofthe precise amount of damages sustained byiednhdual class membewhich the
plaintiffs in Harpersought to dat a later stagef the proceedingafter liability had been
determinedThe Harpercourt concluded that, although the first element may be appropriate for
classwide determinationthe predominance and superiority prongs of the Rule 23(b)(3) analysis
were not mebecauséproof of [the latter threeglementsthough traceable to defendants’
conduct and policies, will require highly individualized proofs as to the injuries suifigrthe
putative class membetdd. at *8-9.

This case is distinguishable fradarperin a number of waysirst, 81681e(b) requires a
showing that the information in the consumer reports was incoldeet. *8. This required each
individual class member tehow that he or she did not, in fact, file for bankruptcy protection.
Plaintiffs in this case are not required to make such a shoRatger, liability revolves mainly
around whether defendant’s policy of sending out gugerse action letters after itmmucts the
adjudication of the employees violates § 1681b(b)(3). Thus, deterntiggy in this case
does not require the degree of individualized analysis as was prebkamper

Second, the proposed clasdHarperconsisted of anyone whose cragjport

inaccurately showed thhe or she had filed for bankruptcy protection. Thus, proving that the

14



plaintiffs in Harperwere harmedby that inaccuracy involved an extra stept everyone with
inaccurate information on his or hewnsumer report necesdy suffers damagen this case,

although plaintiffs must prove causation and damages for Cogge,le.g.Gagliardi v. Equifax

Info. Servs, LLC, No. 09-1612, 2011 WL 337331, at *12 (W.D. Pa. Feb. 3, 2Gh&)alleged

violation isnecessarilyinked to a decision to fire, not hire, or not promote employ&eseAm.
Compl. 11 41-45.) Under such allegations, untileeper plaintiffs must be given an opportunity
to establish thadefendaris alleged violation of 8 1681b(b)(8aused damages to albposed
class members

Accordingly, the Court concludes that this case is not amivegrare few where the
complaint itself demonstrates that the requirements for maintaining a classcactimt be

met” Landsman640 F.3d at 93 n.3@f. Woodard v. FedEx Freight E., Inc., 250 F.R.D. 178,

182 (M.D. Pa. 2008(striking class allegations because the plaintiffs made those allegations in a
case involving the Fair Labor Standards Act, to which Rule 23 does not apy)part of
defendant second Motion t®ismisswhich asks the Coutb strike the class allegations in
Count lis denied without prejudice to defendant’s right to raise the issue in opposition to a
motion for class certificatian

B. Statute of Limitations

Defendant argues that Counts [, #hd IV are timebarred under 15 U.S.C. § 1681p
because plaintiffs asserted these claims for the first time in their Amendgolda, more than
two years after the events giving rise to the claims took place. For thesesiated below, the
Court concldes that all three claims relate back todhte of its First Complairdgnd thus are

not timebarred.

15



1. Relation-Back Standard
Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 15(c)(1)(B&Jri amendment to a pleading
relates back to the date of the original giag when . . . the amendment asserts a claim or
defense that arose out of the conduct, transaction, or occurrence set attermpted to be set
out—in the original pleadingAs the Third Circuit has stated,

[Almendments that restate the original claimithw greater
particularity or amplify the factual circumstances surrounding the
pertinent conduct, transaction or occurrence in the preceding
pleading fall within Rule 15(c). In essence, application of Rule
15(c) involves a search for a common core of dpardacts in the

two pleadings. As such, the court looks to whether the opposing
party has had fair notice of the general fact situation and legal
theory upon which the amending party proceeds.

Bensel v. Allied Pilots Ass, 387 F.3d 298, 310 (3d Cir. @9) (citations omittedHowever, an

amendmentdoes not relate back . . . when it asserts a new ground for relief supported by facts
that differ in both time and type from those the original pleading set fofdyte v. Felix 545
U.S. 644, 650 (2005).
2. Count |

As noted above, supra Section 11.D, Biest Complaintcontained an allegation that
defendant willfully violated § 1681b(b)(3). In its March 22, 2012, Memorandum, the Court
concluded that plaintiffs had failed to state a claim for a willfulation of § 1681b(b)(3). In the
Amended Complaint, plaintiffs amended Count | to allege that defendant negligetdatedi
8 1681b(b)(3). A negligence claim under 8 1681b(b)(3) reqaisb®wingof causation and
damages, as discussed abolhe Amended @nplaint thus contains specific allegations relating
to those two elementhat were not stated as precisely in Birst Complaint

Defendant argues thato groups of allegations anewand thus do noklate back to

the First Complaintunder Rule 15(c). First, defendant points to paragraphs fifty-eight and

16



eighty-one of the Amended Complaim, which plaintiffs allege that the employers did not
notify the named plaintiffs that the employer waabmitting information about [plaintiffs] into
a nationwtde employment databas®efendant argues thdtjhese allegations have been added
to make an argument that LexisNexis negligently affords contributing memité excessive
discretion with respect to what they tell consumers about Est¢Petf. s Br. 16.) However,
these allegations are similar to, albeit more specific versions of, allegatiorigfplaiade in the
First Complaint The First Complaintis rife with allegations that defendant conducts little
oversight of member employers and affords themcéssive discretioh(See, e.qg.First Compl.
11 22, 30 (alleging that defendant does not adequately oversee the form and snlahissi
admission statements).) More specifically, Biest Complaintlso allegd that“[tlhe consumer
is not notified in advance that he is likely to be rejected based on an Esteem repoytifot ma
even know that he is part of a retail theft databagk). 1 47.)

Defendant also argues that plaintiffs have added allegations that they Wwere eit
conditionally hired or conditionally promoted befaheir employersequestedn Esteem report
from defendant.§eeAm. Compl. 11 61, 74, 88.) However, thest Complaintontainedsimilar
allegations. For example, paragraph fdthgee state that often, the potential employdras
already decided to hire the consumer, conditioned only on the consumer clearim{ekexis
background checks, including a search of the Esteem dataPasagraph fortfive statel, “If
the Esteem search is negative, the consumer is hirbdse allegations cleanptified
defendant that the conditional hiring or promotion of plaintiffs was an issue in the cas

Although the Amended Complaint contains some new allegations, the Court concludes
that these allegations merely “amplify the factual emstances surrounding the pertinent

conduct,” and thus, defendant “had fair notice of the general fact situation and legalh@ory
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which” plaintiffs are proceeding. Bens&B7 F.3d at 310. Thus, Rule 15(c) applies and the
allegations in Count | relateack to the date of tHarst Complaint
3. Count Il

Count Il makes a claim on behalf of themedplaintiffs for a violation of 15 U.S.C.

8 1681e(b), which requires consumer reporting agencies to “follow reasonable pret¢edure
assure maximum possible accuracy of the information concerning the individuahdtooatthe
report relates.Count Il did not appear in theirst Complaint Defendant argues that in making
this claim, plaintiffsassernew allegations that are not within theore of operativéacts;

Bense] 387 F.3d at 310, set out in thest Complaint For the reasons that follow, the Court
rejects defendarg argument.

Defendant cites paragraphs 136 through 148 of the Amended Complaint as containing
new allegations that should not relateck to the date of tHérst Complaint For example,
plaintiffs allege in paragraph 137 that defendduats‘fewpolicies and procedures governing
employer practices regarding the form, content, and quality of contributed emimiss
statements.In paragraph 139, plaintiffs allege that defendant does not require thex@mess
admissiofi be contained in the admission statements; in paragraph 145, plaintiffs allege that
defendant only requires that the admission statements be verified once.

TheFirst Complainttontained all of these allegations. In Fhest Complaint, plaintiffs
pointed out that defendant inadequately oversees the form and substance of the admission
statements. (First Com({ 22, 26, 30.) Further, plaintiffs allegéalvsin the verifiation
process and review of the admission statemetsy{ 27, 29.) Thus, the Court concludes that
defendant had notice of the operative facts underlyingléua plaintiffs make in Count Ijland

Count Il relates back to the date of fhiest Complant under Rule 15(c).
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4. Count IV

In Count IV, the named plaintiffs allege that defendant violated 15 U.S.C. § 1618i, which
requires a credit reporting agency to conduct a “reasonable reinvestigatioy’ difputed
“item of information contained in a ceamets file” if such information isdisputed by the
consumer and the consumer notifies the agency dire@dunt 1V did not appear in théirst
Complaint. Defendant argues that Rule 15(c) does not apply and Count IV does not c&late ba
to the filing d the First Complaint For the reasons stated below, the Court rejects defeadant’
argument.

Defendant focuses on paragraph 153 of the Amended Complaint, in which plaintiffs
allege that defendafdlisregards the gravity of the reinvestigation obligatioesolves all
ambiguities against the employee, and usssamdardiorm called &Disputed Accuracy by
Consumerform.” While these specific allegations are new to the Amended Complaint, they do
no more thandmplify the factual circumstances surrounding pertinent conductBense) 387
F.3d at 310, alleged in thérst Complaint TheFirst Complainialleged deficiencies in the
reinvestigation procedurerifst Compl 1 65-68, 92— For example, defendant wrote letters
to both namegblaintiffs thatoffered to provide “a description of the procedure used to
reinvestigate the disputed informationd.(Exs. E, K.) When plaintiffs wrote to defendant to
obtain that description, defendant never respond@df{ 67, 94.Jurther, plaintiffs alleged in
theFirst Complainthat“[d] efendant is systematically undermining the possibility of meaningful
consumer disputes by requiring consumers to dispute the accuracho$sion statements
does not let consumers sedd. (1 121.)

TheFirst Complainttontained allegationsufficient to notifydefendanthat defendang

reinvestigation procedures weaar issue in the cas@/hile the new allegations in the Amended
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Complaint are more specific, they do not “differ in both time and tfoei the claims asserted
in theFirst ComplaintMayle, 545 U.S. at 650. Thus, the Court concludes that the allegations in
Count IV relate back to the filing of thérst Complaintunder Rule 15(cj.
V. CONCLUSION
For the reasons stated above, the Court denies defendaatid Motion to Dismiss.

An appropriate Order follows.

® Defendant argues strenubuthat plaintiffs made a tactical decision to forego their new
claims—especially the negligence claim in Countih the First Complaint and thus, should not
be able to assert these claims now. In support, defendant cites In re AsbadiotsRiability
Litigation (No. V1), No. MDL 875, 2009 WL 2412442, at *7 (E.D. Pa. Aug. 5, 2009), in which
the court held that Rule 15(c) did not apply where the plaintiff expressly discdederal
claims in a prior motion to remand to state court and then later sought to amend her firs
complaint to add those federal claims. The Asbestos case is distinguishabheirfidber of
reasons. First, the Asbestos court cited four ways in which the new claigredi$ubstantially
from the old claims and were “'supported by facts that differ in both time aedrym those
the original pleading set forth.Id. (QuotingMayle, 545 U.S. at 650). As explained above, the
new claims in this case are supported by facts that do not “differ in both time aritbtype
those [in] the aginal pleading,’id., but instead simply “amplify” the facts of the first complaint,
Bense] 387 F.3d at 310.

Second, in Asbestpthe plaintiff expressly “waived [her] federal claims now and
forever” in her brief supporting her motion for remand amthe first complaintAsbestos,

2009 WL 2412442, at *7 (alteration in original) (quoting plaintiff's brief in support of her
motion for remand). There was no such express waiver in this case.

Finally, the named plaintiffs in this case did not receive copies of their admiss
statements until well after this action was filed. The Court declines to rule on wtiethe
admission statements were necessary to assert thelass in the Amended Complaibuit
notes thathe facial deficiencies in Ms. Goodmamdmission statemeate related to the
allegations in Counts Ill and IV, in which plaintiffs assgdims based on inaccurate
information and inadequate reinvestigation.
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